PART A: SUPPORTING STATEMENT FOR PAPERWORK REDUCTION ACT SUBMISSION

Pilot Surveys of Employee Voice in the Coal Mining Industry

Contents

PART A	A: SUPPORTING STATEMENT FOR PAPERWORK REDUCTION ACT SUBMISSION	1
1.	Circumstances Necessitating the Data Collection	2
2.	How, by Whom, and for What Purpose the Information Is to Be Used	3
3.	Uses of Improved Technology to Reduce Burden	5
4.	Efforts to Identify Duplication	5
5.	Methods to Minimize Burden on Small Businesses or Entities	6
6.	Consequences of Not Collecting the Data	6
7.	Special Data Collection Circumstances	7
8.	Federal Register Notice and Response to Public Comments	7
9.	Respondent Payments	12
10.	Confidentiality	12
11.	Questions of a Sensitive Nature	12
12.	Hour Burden of the Collection of Information	13
13.	Estimated Total Annual Cost Burden to Respondents and Record Keepers	13
14.	Estimated Annualized Cost to the Federal Government	14
15.	Changes in Burden	14
16.	Publication Plans and Project Schedule	14
17.	Reasons for Not Displaying Expiration Date of OMB Approval	14
18.	Exceptions to the Certification Statement	15

TABLES

Table 1. Summary of data gathering techniques and number of respondents	3
Table 2. Estimation of burden hours by data gathering technique	11
Table 3. Annualized cost to respondents	12
Table 4. Schedule for Project tasks	13

PART A: SUPPORTING STATEMENT FOR PAPERWORK REDUCTION ACT SUBMISSION

The Chief Evaluation Office (CEO) within the U.S. Department of Labor (DOL) Office of the Assistant Secretary for Policy (OASP) intends to evaluate the extent to which employees in U.S. workplaces can and do voice their concerns to employers regarding various workplace issues. To that end, CEO is currently working to develop surveys to measure voice in U.S. workplaces. DOL recognizes that gathering data on voice from employees in the mining industry poses some unique problems; therefore, with the guidance of the Mine Safety and Health Administration (MSHA), CEO intends to perform a pilot study of two or three survey implementation techniques to determine which would be the most productive and logistically feasible to implement industry-wide on a recurring basis.

The survey is an information collection (IC) subject to OMB approval under the Paperwork Reduction Act. The pilot study will *not* seek to gather data from samples large enough to develop statistically significant data, but is meant to test the logistical feasibility of different methods of collecting survey data in the mining industry; consequently, only a draft/provisional Supporting Statement part B has been prepared at this time. DOL would develop a full part B for a full-scale study to measure employee voice in mining. The ultimate goal of this pilot data collection is to provide DOL with the answers to a few key questions:

- (1) Is it feasible, at all, to collect data that can be used by DOL in measuring and tracking employee voice in mining workplaces?
- (2) If it is feasible to collect data, what mode of data collection represents the best possible approach? What lessons can be learned from the pilot data collection to inform a full-scale data collection?
- (3) Will the data collected be likely to be representative of the overall population of miners? If not, would the data provide some value for DOL's purpose of measuring and tracking voice in the workplace?
- (4) What refinements can be made to DOL's current thinking on the factors that comprise employee voice in mining workplaces?

The pilot study will also serve as a thorough test of the survey instrument developed to measure employee voice in the industry sectors under MSHA jurisdiction. Eastern Research Group, Inc. (ERG) has been awarded a contract to perform the actual study work and National Opinion Research Center is a sub-contractor to ERG.

1. Circumstances Necessitating the Data Collection

DOL defines employee voice as "workers' ability to access information on their rights in the workplace, their understanding of those rights, and their ability to exercise these rights without fear of discrimination or retaliation." The rights and responsibilities of workers in the mining industry are defined in the Federal Mine Safety and Health Act of 1977, the Mine Improvement and New Emergency Response Act of 2006 (MINER Act), and Title 30 of the Code of Federal Regulations (30 CFR Parts 1 through 199). MSHA is the agency responsible for providing outreach and training to miners on their rights and enforcing their ability to exercise those rights. These rights include making a complaint of a potential danger or safety or health violation to the attention of the mine operator, requesting a mine inspection from MSHA, and nominating (with another miner) a miners' representative to accompany mine inspectors during an investigation. By bringing hazardous conditions to the attention of supervisors, other management personnel, or other responsible parties, each individual mine worker contributes to the prevention of workplace injury or illness. In this way, employee voice can be a major contributor to the maintenance of employee safety and health at mining sites.

A major purpose of this pilot study is to develop a measure of employee voice in the coal mining industry (with a feasible data collection method) that is consistent with the measure of voice currently being developed for industries under the jurisdiction of DOL's Occupational Safety and Health Administration (OSHA) and Wage and Hour Division (WHD). The measure of employee voice in the coal mining industry will include indices of the extent to which mine workers: (1) feel encouraged to report or discouraged from reporting hazardous conditions to a responsible party, (2) are aware of and make use of MSHA outreach resources on miners' statutory rights, (3) know about their statutory rights with respect to workplace health and safety, and (4) exercise those rights in their workplaces, and the reasons why they do or do not.

DOL is collecting this information to meet its requirements for performance reporting under the Government Performance and Results Act (GPRA) and under its 2011-2016 Strategic Plan. Secretary Solis' vision of "Good Jobs for Everyone" includes a strategic goal of "assuring fair and high quality work-life environments" with an outcome goal of "ensuring worker voice in the workplace." Data to be collected under this survey would assist in the development of a measure of employee voice in the mining industry.

The combination of special circumstances surrounding the mining industry—the socio-cultural role of the industry in mining communities, the high-risk nature of the work, the history of workplace catastrophes in coal mines, and the intensity of regulatory attention—necessitates that employee voice be measured with a survey instrument specific to mining employees. Moreover, because mining represents a small subset of the U.S. labor force, implementing the survey poses some special problems. In the absence of a list of miners' telephone numbers, random digit

¹ See DOL's 2011-2016 Strategic Plan: http://www.dol.gov/sec/stratplan/StrategicPlan.pdf.

dialing (the technique often used in surveys with a large universe to be sampled) is impractical. Even if a list of miners' telephone numbers were available, there are concerns that many mine workers would be unwilling to give candid responses to sensitive questions about their employers and workplaces over the telephone. As a result, alternative data-gathering techniques must be employed.

In this pilot study, CEO will determine which of the following two data-gathering techniques will be the most productive and logistically feasible to implement industry-wide on a recurring basis: (1) administration of a paper survey to miners attending annual new miner and miner refresher training sessions conducted at the state level with MSHA grant funding or (2) use of radio and/or paper advertisements to recruit miners to take the survey by phone or online. These techniques and the number of respondents to be surveyed in the pilot test are summarized in the table below.

Table 1. Summary of data gathering techniques and number of respondents.

Data Gathering Technique	Description		Number of Respondents
Phone or internet survey through radio/paper advertisement recruitment	 An ad is placed on the radio and/or in newspapers recruiting miners to take the survey; the ad provides both a phone number and an email address for respondents. 	•	125
Paper survey distributed at state grantee miner training sessions	Paper survey distributed in miner training sessions run by state grantee organizations.	•	125

2. How, by Whom, and for What Purpose the Information Is to Be Used

Secretary of Labor Hilda L. Solis has made *Good Jobs for Everyone* the strategic vision for DOL, characterizing a good job as one that "…is safe and secure and gives people a voice in the workplace." Thus, measuring employee voice in the workplace is essential to tracking DOL's progress towards achieving its strategic goals. CEO and MSHA will conduct this pilot study and gather information about voice in mining workplaces by means of a survey instrument administered in two ways (paper survey at state grantee miner training sessions and radio/newspaper ad recruitment of miners) on a one-time basis.

CEO and MSHA will use the information collected under the pilot to answer the question posed in the introduction to this Supporting Statement:

Is it feasible, at all, to collect data that can be used by DOL in measuring and tracking employee voice in mining workplaces? DOL is conducting this pilot to assess whether data collection is at all feasible in the first place. As noted above, the miner population poses some unique challenges in terms of reaching potential respondents and convincing potential respondents to participate. This pilot data collection effort will provide some indication on the degree to which DOL could expect to feasibly collect data on a larger scale. To assess this, DOL will look at the number of responses collected under each mode and the effort required to attain those responses.

If it is feasible to collect data, what mode of data collection represents the best possible approach? What lessons can be learned from the pilot data collection to inform a full-scale data collection? Based on input from its Technical Working Group (TWG) for this project, DOL has decided to test two modes of data collection: (1) an in-person approach where data are collected from miners at their annual refresher training sessions and (2) recruiting miners through advertising to take the survey either over the web or by phone.² The pilot will collect data through both approaches and compare the two to determine which would represent the best approach. To make this determination, DOL will compare the modes in terms of the number of responses, the quality of responses (e.g., item nonresponse), and refusals. DOL will also compare the cost associated with each approach to provide context on the feasibility and will compare the modes on a number of qualitative factors as well (e.g., problems encountered). The pilot implementation will also provide "lessons learned" and other information to inform DOL and the best approach to implement a full-scale survey (e.g., protocols for on-site data collection, etc.).

Will the data collected be likely to be representative of the overall population of miners? If not, would the data provide some value for DOL's purpose of measuring and tracking voice in the workplace? The pilot data collection does not involve collecting representative data from miners. However, one objective of a full-scale data collection would be to collect representative data. The data collected from the pilot would, however, provide some indication on whether representative data could be collected. To make this assessment for the in-person data collection, DOL would compare the types of miners who take training from MSHA grantees to the demographics of the mining population.³ For the phone/web recruitment mode, DOL would compare the demographics of the survey respondents to the demographics of the mining industry.⁴

² DOL had originally considered a third approach of a mail and/or phone survey. However, ERG was unable to identify a reliable list of miners to use as a frame for that approach.

³ MSHA provides states with grant money to perform training. Although annual refresher training is required, mines are not required to use MSHA grantees for annual refresher training. The grantees keep information on the types of miners and mines that access their training. Thus, DOL would collect this information across the grantees and compare to this to the demographics of miners as a whole. MSHA maintains mine demographic information at http://www.msha.gov/stats/statinfo.htm and the Census Bureau maintains miner demographic information at http://www.census.gov/econ/industry/current/c21.htm.

⁴ See footnote 3 for data sources.

What refinements can be made to DOL's current thinking on the factors that comprise employee voice in mining workplaces? The survey instrument reflects the set of factors that DOL expects to use to measure voice in the workplace. The pilot implementation will assist DOL in better understanding if some of those factors are unnecessary. For example, a question that generates the same response across all respondents may not help DOL in measuring the influences on voice and changes in voice over time (i.e., there is no variability to be attributed to different characteristics of miners or mines). The pilot implementation will assist DOL in refining its measure of voice by providing a first set of responses for the relevant factors. DOL will assess the necessary changes by reviewing the collected data and looking for consistencies and trends.

Data from this pilot study will be presented in summary form in a final report that presents recommendations on (1) the feasibility of performing a larger-scale survey, (2) refinements to the survey instrument and (3) preferred data collection mode. The pilot study is not intended to generate statistically valid or representative data; the final report will explain this, noting that such data would be collected during full-scale implementation.

3. Uses of Improved Technology to Reduce Burden

One of the two data-gathering techniques will involve collection of data through a web-based version of the survey instrument. The purpose of offering a web-based version is to assess the extent to which it may be used by miners. Experts (see Section 8.C below) consulted during development of this survey, however, felt that there may be few responses via the web, but also felt that it was worth piloting. The web-based instrument would, presumably, offer a less time-consuming method for respondents to complete the survey. However, in estimating burden in Section 12 below, we assumed the same amount of time would be spent by respondents on the web-based version as on the other two versions.

4. Efforts to Identify Duplication

A thorough literature review on employee voice was performed as part of the background research for this task. Numerous online academic databases were searched, including Google Scholar, Scopus, and LexisNexis Academic. No effort to measure voice among U.S. mining employees was found or referenced. While there have been surveys of voice in other industries, none were found that focus on employee voice regarding workplace safety and health issues or employee rights.

We are aware of a study of safety culture in underground coal mining currently being conducted by NIOSH (OMB Control # 0920-0835). The study involves a site visit by the study team to implement a suite of evaluation instruments (including an employee survey) to assess the policies, practices, and attitudes towards safety in the mine in order to provide feedback to mine

management. While the study reveals coal miner attitudes towards reporting safety and health hazards, an indirect assessment of voice, the study is not designed to provide longitudinal data on miner understanding of and ability to exercise rights, nor is the study implementation mode practical for collection of nationally representative data. The NIOSH study of safety culture will instead provide useful feedback on the logistics of implementing a survey with coal miners.

DOL is also conducting a parallel effort to establish a survey to measure voice in workplaces under the jurisdiction of OSHA and WHD. That effort does not encompass any of the mining workplaces under MSHA's jurisdiction; this study complements but does not overlap with the OSHA/WHD study.

5. Methods to Minimize Burden on Small Businesses or Entities

No small businesses or entities will be surveyed as part of this study. Implementation of one data collection approach, a paper survey administered during state grantee training sessions, will require cooperation from several coal miner training programs that receive grant funding from MSHA to provide mandatory health and safety training to miners. DOL will minimize the burden on these groups by supplying all information collection materials (detailed instructions, respondent materials, pre-addressed envelopes, and collection box) as well as pre-implementation training and support from personnel on-site. DOL will consult with the training programs in advance to ensure that this approach will not be burdensome and to make any necessary adjustments.

6. Consequences of Not Collecting the Data

Mining is among the most hazardous private-sector work activities in the United States. The consequences of unabated hazards can be catastrophic, with a single incident having the potential to cause several, sometimes dozens, of fatalities and serious injuries. Although workplaces under MSHA's jurisdiction are subject to intensive regulatory scrutiny, with underground mines receiving quarterly inspections, the nature of mining is such that safety and health hazards can arise quickly and continue unreported if workers do not point them out. To fulfill its mission, therefore, MSHA must help miners recognize hazards, know about their legal rights and protections, and report observed hazards to their employer or responsible parties such as state and MSHA inspectors — all of which depends on mine workers having voice in the workplace. If DOL conducts this pilot study, the Government will have information to better understand whether it is feasible to collect data from miners on voice in the workplace and information on the best approach to collect those data. If this data collection is not performed, DOL will not have the data and information to understand whether collecting these data are feasible and the best approach to collect these data.

7. Special Data Collection Circumstances

No inconsistency with OMB guidelines is anticipated for this data collection. The purpose of this pilot test is not to gather statistically significant data, but to determine the optimum method for gathering such data when the survey is implemented full scale.

8. Federal Register Notice and Response to Public Comments

A. Federal Register Notice

As required by 5 CFR 13.20.8 (d), a Federal Register Notice, published on January 19, 2012 (FR, Vol. 77, No. 12, pp. 2760-2761), announced the pilot survey of miners' voice in the workplace. The Federal Register announcement provided the public an opportunity to review and comment on the planned data collection within 60 days of the publication, in accordance with the Paperwork Reduction Act of 1995. A copy of this Federal Register Notice appears in Appendix D. The full set of comments received is available on the www.reginfo.gov Web site.

B. Response to Comments on Federal Register Notice

Comments on the 60-day Federal Register announcement were received from ten individuals, representing themselves or their affiliated organizations. Several commenters addressed more than one issue. Overall, the comments addressed seven issues: (1) need for and/or usefulness of the survey, (2) scope of the survey, (3) burden to industry of the survey, (4) survey implementation, (5) content of the survey and survey items, (6) authority under which the survey is being undertaken, and (7) anonymity of survey participants and the companies for which they work.

Necessity/usefulness of the survey

Commenters offered divergent opinions on the extent to which miners understand their workplace safety and health rights. One asserted that "Miner's rights are well understood by miners and additional surveys are not needed," while another stated that "...miners tend to be very uninformed" about their rights and legal protections and a third noted that he "rarely" encounters miners who can recall the rights and responsibilities that are enumerated during new miner courses. The pilot survey of employee voice in the coal mining industry will provide data to help clarify the extent to which miners understand their rights.

Commenters also disagreed about whether data from the survey will be useful to MSHA. One commenter asserted that the survey "is not necessary for the performance of the functions of the Mine Safety and Health Administration" and that "[t]he information will not have a practical utility." On the other hand, another commenter said that "[it] was very well known [if] you wanted to keep your job you never said nothing to State or MSHA inspectors bad about any

equipment or any boss or the coal company." This comment speaks directly to the need for a survey about miners' willingness to voice their concerns in the workplace, which is important for MSHA to be able to fulfill its mission (see Section 6 of this Supporting Statement).

Scope of the survey

Some commenters suggested that the pilot study be expanded to include additional categories of respondents:

- Employees of other types of mines (not just coal mines). DOL is focusing this pilot study on coal mining in order to determine a feasible survey implementation method for this difficult-to-reach audience. Based on a greater understanding of feasible survey implementation methods, DOL would like to include other sectors of the mining industry in future studies and full-scale implementation efforts. DOL believes it is premature to expand the scope of the survey at this time.
- "[A]ll mining communities," including "small and large mines, union and non-union mines." See above.
- Mine management personnel above the level of "first line supervisor" (currently screened out of survey). Mine managers are the receivers of mine safety and health concerns from mine workers and foremen. Thus, it is unnecessary to ask managers about their willingness to voice safety and health concerns to themselves.

Burden to Industry

Two commenters expressed concern that the survey will represent a burden to the mining industry: "MSHA cannot stop production for this type of activity," and "[the survey] is a burden to the mining industry." DOL has been careful to select survey implementation techniques for feasibility testing that do not involve mine operators and thus impose no burden on the operators.

Implementation Issues

Commenters identified two issues having to do with survey implementation:

• *Implementation at mines*. One commenter expressed concern that administering the survey at a mine, or providing a survey website URL on a bulletin board at a mine, could result in skewed responses: "a lopsided survey showing a perfect mine." DOL has been careful to select survey implementation techniques for testing that do not involve mine sites — and that provide anonymity (see below), so participation in the survey will not negatively affect a respondent's relationship with his or her employer.

- Anonymity. Several commenters expressed concern that a lack of anonymity might affect respondents' willingness to participate and/or their responses. Because DOL concurs with this concern, the Department has been careful to select survey implementation techniques for testing that protect anonymity and confidentiality. At training sessions, each respondent will seal the completed survey in a plain envelope and place it into a locked box that will be opened only by the survey contractor; respondents will be asked not to write their name on surveys. Similarly, phone, online, and mail surveys (if implemented) would not involve identifying respondents to the survey or associating someone's identity with their responses to the survey.
- *Literacy*. A commenter noted that "some miners still struggle with reading and writing" or lack the computer skills necessary to complete an online survey. To help mitigate these issues, DOL has written the survey instrument in a low-literacy format, and none of the survey implementation techniques to be tested relies solely on an online format (i.e., in the second implementation technique, respondents may take the survey by phone *or* online).

Survey Content

Several commenters made observations about the content of the survey:

- *Lack of metal/non-metal mining content*. As noted above, DOL intends to include metal/non-metal mine workers in the future and will refine the survey to be more inclusive at that time.
- *Potentially identifying questions*. Some commenters objected to questions asking for information about the respondent:
 - ➤ <u>Union membership.</u> Responses to this question will help DOL determine whether a relationship exists between union membership and measures of voice, thereby enabling MSHA to refine its outreach efforts if appropriate. As personally identifying information will not be collected, DOL will not be able to identify respondents based on their response to this question. Furthermore, as more fully explained in item 10, all responses that could identify specific respondents will be kept only by the contractor for use in analysis. Any data received by DOL will not contain personal identifiers.
 - Name of respondent's mine. Answering this question reduces burden by enabling the respondent to skip the next set of questions; anyone who feels uncomfortable answering this question may instead answer the next set of questions.
 - Ethnicity. This is a standard question on many Federal government surveys (e.g., U.S. Census) and will not be used to identify respondents. The purpose of collecting this information is to be able to assess whether ethnicity is associated with DOL's measure of voice. If so, there may be some need for targeted outreach materials from MSHA.

- Consistency with OSHA/WHD survey. One commenter suggested making the survey more
 consistent with the OSHA/WHD survey. DOL has endeavored to do so, but some questions
 must differ because (1) some of the more general OSHA/WHD survey questions do not apply
 to miners and (2) the mining survey is intended to focus on voice in terms of safety and
 health hazard reporting.
- Bounds on respondent injury/illness. For certain survey questions, one commenter suggested asking about *all* injuries/illnesses suffered over a specified time period (e.g., 6 or 12 months) rather than just the *last* injury/illness. These questions were carefully worded in accordance with good survey practice to provide a broad but easily remembered frame of reference (the "last" injury or illness the respondent suffered). Also, limiting the question to a specific time period is unnecessarily restrictive; doing so could miss the experiences of respondents who suffered an injury/illness more than 6 or 12 months ago.
- Miners' representatives. The same commenter suggested adding several items to reflect the details of the rights of miners' representatives. In response to this comment, DOL has reworded some questions to include the following language: "the right to select a representative to participate in all aspects of an inspection" (underlined words identify added text). This commenter also suggested including a series of items about other rights of miners' representatives. DOL considers these recommendations for questions to be out of the scope of the survey, since the intention is to gather information about knowledge of miner rights, not miners' representative rights.
- Equipment permissibility. One commenter suggested adding survey question(s) about
 permissibility on equipment (30 CFR part 18 and parts 75-500 through 75-900). The survey
 includes a question on miners' knowledge of their right to refuse to operate equipment for
 which they are not properly trained and their willingness to exercise that right. DOL
 considers additional questions related to enforcement or inspection approaches to be out of
 scope for this survey.
- *Trust in MSHA*. The United Mine Workers of America (UMWA) commented that the survey should include questions related to whether miners trust MSHA. In response, DOL added questions to the final versions of the instrument to ask miners about their trust in MSHA.

Authority

One commenter stated that the Mine Act of 1977 and MINER Act of 2006 "do not provide for of [sic] collection of this information." DOL is not proposing to collect these data under the Mine Act of 1977 or MINER Act of 2006. As discussed in Section 1 above, DOL is collecting these data to meet its requirements for performance reporting under the Government Performance and

Results Act (GPRA) and under its 2011-2016 Strategic Plan. The data collected under this survey would assist in the development of a measure of employee voice in the mining industry.

This commenter also stated that "Questions about mine management are not pertinent to the health and safety of the miner" and "MSHA has no right to question how a mine is operated." DOL disagrees with these opinions. In regards to the first statement ("Questions about mine management are not pertinent to the health and safety of the miner"), DOL contends that mine management can potentially have a significant influence on miner health and safety. Furthermore, DOL also contends that the questions being asked are pertinent to understanding miners' abilities to exercise their rights. In regards to the second statement ("MSHA has no right to question how a mine is operated"), this survey is not making value judgments on how mines are operated (i.e., DOL is not questioning *how* a mine is operated). Rather, DOL is asking factual questions to better understand how mines deal with miners' rights issues. Additionally, DOL contends that the questions being asked are pertinent to understanding miners' abilities to exercise their rights.

C. Consultations Outside the Agency

Consultations on research design, data collection, approaches, and survey instrument design are part of the design phase of the study of voice in mining workplaces. The consultations are aimed at ensuring the technical soundness of the study methods and verifying the importance, relevance, and accessibility of the information sought in the study. To those ends, experts from a technical working group (TWG) were consulted:

TWG

Dr. John Budd, Professor of Industrial Relations, University of Minnesota

Dr. Larry Grayson, Professor of Energy and Mineral Engineering, College of Earth and Mineral Sciences, Penn State

Ms. Pauline Kim, Professor of Law, Washington University

Ms. Nancy Lessin, Program Coordinator, United Steelworkers - Tony Mazzocchi Center

Dr. Alison Morantz, Professor of Law & John A. Wilson Distinguished Faculty Scholar, Stanford Law School

DOL also instructed its ERG and NORC to conduct a set of nine cognitive interviews with miners in January and February of 2012 using a draft survey instrument (the version made available as part of the 60-day Federal Register Notice). The purpose of the cognitive interviews was to assess the efficacy of the survey instrument and identify potential refinements. DOL incorporated refinements stemming from the cognitive interviews, resulting in the versions of the instrument contained in Appendices A through C of this package.

9. Respondent Payments

Respondents will not receive any payments or gifts for participating in this information collection.

10. Confidentiality

While there is no express assurance of confidentiality that cannot be supported by law, the design of the data collection will often allow responses to be anonymous. Survey respondents will be assured of the privacy, to the extent available under law, of their responses through language placed prominently on all respondent materials as well as introductory comments made by an interviewer (in the case of a phone interview) or survey distributor (in the case of the paper surveys administered during state grantee training sessions). In the latter two cases, these individuals will be trained on the privacy of responses and will be prepared to describe the policy in detail, provide examples, and respond to any related questions from participants. For example, the interviewer or distributor will explain that an individual's answers will be combined with those of others and presented in summary form only, and that DOL will not have access to the names of participants. All respondent materials will contain the following text: "Individual responses to these surveys will not be shared with any employer, union, government agency. We do not ask for your name. We will protect your privacy to the extent allowed by law."

All responses that could identify specific respondents will be kept only by the contractor, ERG, for use in analysis. Any data received by DOL will not contain personal identifiers, thus precluding individual identification. Public use data files produced at the end of the study will follow the current OMB checklist on confidentiality to ensure that they can be distributed to the general public for analysis without restrictions and without identification of sample members.

11. Questions of a Sensitive Nature

There are no questions of a sensitive nature in the survey instrument. A few survey items ask miners for frank assessments of employer attitudes and actions in response to the reporting of safety hazards, which might be perceived as sensitive to some individuals. This information is crucial to developing a measure of miners' voice in the workplace. Based on an agreement between the contractor and CEO, the identity of individual respondents (and non-respondents), as well as each individual's responses to specific survey items, will be kept private and all survey materials will emphasize this. No individual will be identified as a respondent to MSHA, DOL, union officials, or employers. Additionally, survey questions were pretested through cognitive interviews with a small set of individuals with experience working in the coal mining industry in order to identify and refine questions that might be problematic for potential respondents.

12. Hour Burden of the Collection of Information.

The total burden of this information collection is estimated at 104.17 hours, as outlined in the table below.

Table 2. Estimation of burden hours by data gathering technique.

Type of Respondent	Form Name	No. of Respondents	No. Responses per Respondent	Average Burden per Response (in hours)	Total Burden Hours
Coal Miners	Pilot Survey of Miners' Voice in the Workplace (Ad Recruitment)	125	1	25/60	52.08
Coal Miners	Pilot Survey of Miners' Voice in the Workplace (Paper Survey)	125	1	25/60	52.08
Total	All	250	1	25/60	104.17

The annualized cost to respondents was estimated to be the burden hours estimate multiplied by the median hourly wage estimate (Source: Occupational Employment Statistics, Bureau of Labor Statistics). DOL used the median wage estimate (\$21.13) for Mining Machine Operator (SOC 475049) because this wage falls in the middle of the range of wages for coal mining occupations. DOL multiplied this median wage by 1.4 to capture benefits, resulting in a loaded hourly median wage rate of \$29.58.

Table 3. Annualized cost to respondents.

Type of Respondent	Total Burden Hours	Hourly Wage Rate ⁶	Total Respondent Costs
Coal Miners	104.17	\$29.58	\$3,081

13. Estimated Total Annual Cost Burden to Respondents and Record Keepers

The pilot test survey does not impose capital, start up, maintenance, or operation costs on the respondents.

⁵ The occupation "Extraction workers, all others" (475099) in the Coal Mining industry has an hourly median wage of \$19.96, while the occupation of "Continuous Mining Machine Operator" (475041) – a position requiring considerable skill and experience – has an hourly median wage of \$24.02.

⁶ http://www.bls.gov/news.release/ocwage.htm; wage has been increased by 40% to include benefits.

14. Estimated Annualized Cost to the Federal Government

This 2-year pilot study involves development of a survey instrument, implementation of the survey on a small scale using two or three data-gathering techniques, and analysis of results to develop recommendations for full-scale implementation. The annualized cost to the Federal government is estimated to be \$250,000, which is the total contractor cost of conducting the project. Of the \$500,000 over two years, approximately \$350,000 was budgeted for survey development costs (e.g., instrument development, implementation design, cognitive interviewing related to the instrument, etc.) and \$150,000 was budgeted for survey implementation. There are no other costs to the Federal government for implementation.

15. Changes in Burden

This is a new program.

16. Publication Plans and Project Schedule

The results of the pilot test will not be published, but will be presented in a report to CEO. DOL will collect information via the two or three data-gathering techniques being pilot tested, enter responses into a spreadsheet or database, tabulate responses for survey questions, and analyze the data to (1) identify opportunities to refine the survey instrument and determine which datagathering technique is most feasible for full-scale implementation. The latter analysis will take into account details of each administration method, such as staff time expended per completion, logistical problems of administration, and any extraordinary or unexpected problems encountered.

Table 4. Schedule for Project tasks.

Tasks	Schedule
Implement data collections (all modes)	January – February 2013 (pending OMB approval)
Perform data analyses	February 2013
TWG review of results	March 2013
Final Report	March 2013
Final Briefing	March 2013
Public Data File	April 2013

17. Reasons for Not Displaying Expiration Date of OMB Approval

Not applicable. The collection instrument will display the expiration date.

18. Exceptions to the Certification Statement.

No exceptions are being requested.